D.A. 6-7-91

FILED SID J. WHITE

CLERK SUPREME COURT.

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MERVYN MORELAND,

Appellant - Petitioner

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee - Respondent

Supreme Court No. 76,752

District Court of Appeal Fourth District No. 89-2263

# INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

VIKTORIA L. GRES, ESQ. 1205 St. Lucie Blvd. Stuart, FL 34996 (407) 288-2594

Counsel for Appellant

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, the Appellee/Petitioner below, was the defendant in the underlying criminal case and will be referred to as the defendant. Appellee, the Appellant/ Respondent below, was the prosecution and will be referred to as the State.

The symbol "R" will denote the record on appeal.

The symbol "Tr." will denote the original trial transcript, which forms part of the record on appeal, but remains separately paginated.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Defendant, Mervyn Moreland, appeals the Fourth
District Court of Appeal's reversal of the trial court's
order, based upon the violation of defendant's constitutional right to trial by a jury drawn from a representative cross-section of the community, which granted the
defendant a new trial on collateral review, pursuant to
Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850. R. 415. Discretionary jurisdiction was accepted February 28, 1991.

On June 15, 1989, this Court in <u>Spencer v. State</u>, 545 So.2d 1352 (Fla. 1989), reversed the murder conviction and death sentence in that case because the Palm Beach County jury district system, under which Spencer was tried, unconstitutionally and systematically excluded a significant concentration of blacks from the jury pool for the West Palm Beach jury district. The system was also held to violate equal protection rights guaranteed by Article I, Section 2, of the Florida Constitution, and the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution.

Spencer, supra at 1352-53

While <u>Spencer</u> was pending before this Court in March of <u>1987</u>, the defendant in the present capital case, represented by the same law firm that was representing Leonard Spencer, moved for identical relief by virtually the same motion as the defendant in <u>Spencer</u>. R. 178, 293-313.

Defendant, Mervyn Moreland, by pre-trial motion, timely

challenged as unconstitutional, on Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment grounds, the systematic exclusion of blacks from the West Palm Beach jury district where defendant was tried, which constituted one of two districts set up by the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit's Administrative Order No. 1.006-1/80 entitled "In re Glades Jury District - Eastern Jury District." Objection was also made to the denial of equal protection occasioned by the Order in granting defendants in the Glades but not the West Palm Beach Jury district a choice of which district they could be tried in. R. 293-313.

Since grand juries were still required to be drawn from the county as a whole, trial counsel moved simply to have the case "set for trial on a week when a county-wide pool of juror is already scheduled for use in drawing both a grand jury and trial juries." R. 312-13. The State opposed the motion. Tr. 13-14.

The Honorable Carl Harper, the trial judge, acknowledged that Fifteenth Judicial Circuit Judge Harold Cohen had granted a similar motion and found the jury districting system to be unconstitutional. He also recognized that <u>Spencer</u>, supra, was pending before the Florida Supreme Court. Nevertheless, Judge Harper summarily denied the motion stating that if the Supreme Court found the jury district system in question to be un constitutional, the defendant's case could then be retried.

Defendant was subsequently found guilty of first degree

murder, in a case based entirely on circumstantial evidence, and sentenced to life imprisonment. <u>Inter alia</u>, the issues in defendant's Motion Relating to Composition of Petit Jury Panel were again raised on direct appeal of the conviction to the Fourth District Court of Appeal, as was the fact that the matter was still pending before the Florida Supreme Court. R. 14, 371. The District Court's <u>per curium</u> affirmance was ultimately issued without opinion prior to the Supreme Court's decision in <u>Spencer</u>.

The following year, the defendant was granted an evidentiary hearing under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850. At the post conviction hearing before Judge Thomas E. Sholts, Judge Harper having since retired, additional information concerning defendant's Jury Panel Motion was presented to the court by the defendant's trial counsel. She testified that the motion had been submitted in order to obtain for the defendant a jury drawn from a pool representing a cross-section of the county. R. 179.

Counsel testified that the defendant would have been better served by a diverse jury than by one drawn from the disproportionately white and affluent West Palm Beach district. R. 178-80. Though defendant is a white male, he is also an indigent brain damaged alcoholic who worked as a parking lot attendant. Tr. 957-60. While trial counsel conceded on cross-examination that <u>biased</u> black jurors, those prejudiced against a white defendant, would have been undesireable, certainly not all or even most black jurors

would have been biased, and she stated that had she been able to interview a number of black persons she could very well have found acceptable black jurors. R. 180-81. "I was seeking blacks," trial counsel flatly stated, to add diversity to the jury panel. R. 181. The prospective jurors called for consideration in defendant's case were from the West Palm Beach jury district, which included the many affluent white communities of eastern Palm Beach County, and the jurors were exclusively or almost exclusively white. R. 182. Although one black juror was apparently called, he was challenged by the State. Id. Trial counsel's testimony was unrebutted.

Also established at the post conviction hearing was the fact that at the time of defendant's trial, a number of the criminal division judges were granting defendants the right to have their juries drawn from a county-wide jury pool. Judge Sholts himself observed:

If someone asked for, in those days, a county-wide venire in another case and a judge granted it, everybody on the panel that week was drawn county-wide as opposed to District-One or District-Two wise.

R.12. Thus, numerous defendants were already having their juries drawn from county-wide panels even if they or the judge on their cases had not requested them. That, however, did not occur in the present defendant's case. R. 13.

Judge Sholts recognized that the defendant "Mr. Moreland may very well be in a situation that he would not have

been had he been in another divison of the court." R. 208. Moreover, since grand juries continued to be drawn from county-wide venires, in those weeks that a new grand jury was being impaneled, the petit jury pool was also drawn from the county-wide venire. R. 312.

Equal protection, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment bases relating to the cross-sectional venire requirement were all raised at the hearing and it was argued that denial of defendant's constitutional rights to a representative venire constituted fundamental error necessitating a new trial.

Judge Sholts, however, indicated his reluctance to find fundamental error since "if it is fundamental error in the strict sense of the word then everybody who didn't raise it wouldn't have had to raise it and therefore that might open the floodgates." R. 209. Since the defendant had raised the issue of the unconstitutionality of the jury district system in Palm Beach County, at both the trial and appellate levels, Judge Sholts found:

The court need not reach the issue raised by the state of whether <a href="Spencer">Spencer</a> sets forth a fundamental rule of law requiring retroactivity in all cases. It is debatable whether <a href="Spencer">Spencer</a> sets forth a new rule of law rather than echoing the existing constitutional requirement that a defendant's jury be drawn from a venire comprising a fair cross-section of Palm Beach County.

...The decision in <a href="Spencer">Spencer</a> under the narrow facts applied here requires a retrial of defendant's case.

Order Granting New Trial, R. 415. In attempting to fashion as narrow a ruling as possible, the Court then determined

the fundamentality of the fair cross-section requirement in the context of applying the three prong retroactivity analysis for new rules of law set forth in Witt v. State, 387 So.2d 922 (Fla. 1980). Id. Witt had been originally raised by the State at the post conviction hearing, arguing that Spencer set forth a new but unimportant rule of law that should not be applied retroactively to the present case. The trial court disagreed. Judge Sholts found that the test in Witt allowed a "change of law" to be considered in a Rule 3.850 proceeding if it:

(a) emanates from this (the Florida Supreme) Court or the United States Supreme Court,
(b) is constitutional in nature, and (c) constitutes a development of fundamental significance.

<u>Witt</u>, supra at 931. The court further found that the decision in Spencer:

- (a) emanates from the Supreme Court of Florida
- (b) is constitutional in nature, and
- (c) constitutes a development of fundamental significance.

R. 415. Consequently, the court found that the State's proffered analysis supported giving limited retroactive effect to the decision in <u>Spencer</u> in order to grant, "under the narrow facts" of the present case, post conviction relief to the defendant herein.

The court also appeared to recognize the central importance of <u>fairness</u> in the <u>Witt</u> decision. R. 207-08.

Particularly problematic was the fact that the defendant

herein was denied that which was granted numerous similarly situated defendants, namely a jury venire fairly representative of the county.

The State appealed and the Fourth District Court of Appeal reversed holding that the defendant was procedurally barred from raising in post conviction proceedings the violation of his constitutional rights to a representative venire. This Court's decision in Spencer v. State, supra, was dismissed as a mere "evolutionary refinement" not warranting consideration in collateral proceedings. State v. Moreland, 564 So.2d 1164 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990).

\* \* \*

Although, the applicable decisional law holds that as a matter of law infringement of the right to a jury drawn from a representative venire constitutes a violation of a defendant's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendement rights without reference to the underlying facts, the facts in the present case reinforce the presumption of prejudice, which the State never attempted to rebut, and will be reviewed here briefly since it can be expected that they will be raised, albeit selectively, by the State.

The following is uncontroverted and rests on the evidence, original trial transcripts, etc., and testimony submitted to the court at the post conviction hearing which forms part of the record on appeal, except that the State additionally introduced into evidence, at the hearing, the testimony of Detective Kim C. Myers to impeach the state-

ments of the State's own key trial witness, Timothy King, that his testimony at defendant's trial was the product of police threats and coercion. R. 184-96, 399-402, Tr. 426-28.

The defendant was convicted on purely circumstatial evidence of the first degree murder of Thomas Finkley.

R. 331.

Finkley, a violent pimp and crack addict, had been found dead face down on the steps of a crack house with a bullet that had passed through his heart and nearly every other internal organ. R. 397, 47. The man appeared to have been shot as he stood at the foot of the stairs. That was the original conclusion of the officers on the scene as related to the medical examiner. Tr. 528-29. The shooting occurred at night on Sunday, December 21, 1986. The people at the building and on the scene, potential witnesses, were Hatian and did not speak English; consequently, the police lost an important opportunity to learn the details of what had transpired. R. 343.

One witness at the building, not called at trial<sup>1</sup>, who did speak to police said that she heard the shot and

The witness was a resident of and the rent collector for the building. She was, in fact, the person that reported the shooting. R. 47. The failure of trial counsel to call this and one other witness was one of the bases for defendant's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. It was this ground on which the evidentiary hearing for defendant's pro se Motion for Post Conviction Relief had been granted -- the State had conceded, in its reply to the motion, that the alleged failure to call a key witness could be the basis for relief (R. 393). The Supreme Court's decision in Spencer, supra, was issued shortly before the date of the hearing, this issue was then added as a second ground for post conviction relief.

immediately looked out her door and saw the victim lying on the steps. She also heard a commotion and a number of men getting into a car and driving rapidly away. R. 47-48. The witness's statement was completely at odds with the testimony presented at trial, which implicated the defendant in the shooting, that the victim was shot at another location and had run, despite his injuries, to the building. R. 47-48, 397-403, 403.

Investigating the activities of the victim, Finkley, prior to being found at the crack house, the police learned that about an hour before he was shot, he had attacked his prostitute, Mary Howard, in a nearby bar. R. 397-98, Tr. 586, 463. Finkley had back handed the woman, bloodying her face, following a dispute in which he grabbed her purse and removed a man's wallet. It was later established that the wallet contained no money.

The prostitute had been drinking with the defendant and two other acquaintances -- Timothy King and his wife Margery. R. 397-98. She had frequently complained to the Kings about the pimp's beatings and that she was tired of prostituting herself to support his drug habit. R. 397-98, 404.

When Howard was attacked in the bar by the pimp, the Kings came to her aid. Timothy King was seen threatening Finkley with a pool cue, while his wife hurled obscenities at the pimp. R. 398. Calling the women "whores", the pimp was finally ejected by the bartender. Id.

Shortly thereafter, the Kings left the bar with the defendant. All three were heavily intoxicated, the Kings barely able to walk. Tr. 400, 416-17, 594. They drove to defendant's house to pick up some money with the intention of continuing on to a convenience store. The Kings decided, however, to return to the bar to continue drinking, and the defendant dropped them off nearby. He drove on to the store alone and later returned to the bar. R. 399. Subsequently, after the pimp's body was found about one block from the bar, police came to the bar to investigate whether anyone there had heard anything. They learned of the incident with the prostitute, the threatening conduct of Timothy King, and that the Kings and the defendant had left the bar. R. 397-98. The Kings told the police that they had not heard the shooting and knew nothing about it; they had simply returned to the bar and continued drinking. R. 399.

The police investigated the prostitute and the Kings, they also learned that the defendant had a long running relationship with the prostitute. Days later, the police picked up the Kings, brought them to the station and interrogated Timothy King while keeping the wife in a separate area. Timothy King, who had an extensive criminal history, was interrogated for hours and told that he would be charged with the murder. The police also threatened to jail his wife on an old outstanding warrant they had uncovered.

Margery King had a nervous condition -- a severe case of agoraphobia. King thought she would have a heart attack

if she were imprisoned. The police threatened to keep the Kings at the station all night if necessary. R. 397-402, Tr. 426-28.

Timothy King recalled, in a statement to the Public Defender's Office, that a Detective Myers brought the Kings to the station and interrogated him. King maintained that he was never advised of his rights even when the police accused him of being the perpetrator:

- Q. And you say, again, that he never advised you of your rights? He was...
- A. No, he didn't say nothing.
- Q. ...he was inferring it was either you, your wife or Buddy who had done this? Right?
- A. Yes. Because he said, "one of three things, because we got phone calls saying that you did it, Buddy did it or your wife did it. And I said, get out of here! I said, I wouldn't shoot anybody. I said, My wife wouldn't shoot anybody, and I don't think Buddy did it." "Well, somebody did it." And then he threw a picture down in front of me, and it was Tommy.
- Q. His corpse?
- A. Yea. And then he said, uh, asked me if the grand jury would think he would, they would believe me about saying that I wouldn't shoot anybody. I said, "Well, I wouldn't." He goes, did I think they'd believe me and I go, "I don't know."
- R. 399-401. Finally, King broke down and changed his story. While King's original account of the events on the night of the shooting parallel the account above, at page 11, the new story he told the police implicated the defendant.

  R. 397-402, Tr. 426-28.

King told the police that just before he and his wife

reentered the bar, after the defendant dropped them off nearby, he heard a shot and glanced across the street and saw Finkley in the far corner of a service station stagerring and clutching his chest. R. 401. He also stated that he saw, in the distance, the back of a station wagon that looked like the defendant's car driving away in the night. He and his wife then allegedly turned away, reentered the bar and continued their drinking without telling anyone of the incident. R. 401-02.

Rather than obtain an independent statement from Margery King, the police brought her into the room where King was held after he agreed to change his story, and she stayed there while her husband gave the new account of the events on the night of Finkley's shooting. Tr. 494-95. Both the Kings ultimately testified at the defendant's trial to this new version. R. 402.

The sole evidence against the defendant was the testimony of the Kings. There was no physical evidence linking him with the crime. There was not even any blood found at the service station where the pimp was allegedly shot. Finally, the defendant has consistently maintained his innocence.

R. 96.

The above recitation of the facts is likely to become important in the event the Court finds it necessary to consider the extent to which the defendant was prejudiced by being denied his constitutional rights to a representative jury venire.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Fourth District held that, despite preserving the issues, the defendant was procedurally barred from raising the violation of his constitutional rights to a representative venire since this Court's decision in Spencer v. State, supra, constituted an insignificant "change in decisional law" indistinguishable from the "evolutionary refinement" represented by State v. Neil, 457 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1989).

The Fourth District ignored this Court's language in Neil, relying on U.S. Supreme Court precedent, "that distinctive groups cannot be systematically excluded from venires." Neil, supra at 487. The alleged "change" wrought by Spencer was already a long accepted constitutional principle at the time Neil was handed down.

The Fourth District's opinion also expressly and directly conflicts with this Court's decision in Jackson v. Dugger, 547 So.2d 1197 (Fla. 1989), holding that a defendant is not procedurally barred when post conviction relief is based on a properly preserved constitutional issue.

The opinion conflicts with decisions of other district courts of appeal holding that infringement of the Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial "constitutes fundamental error." Nova v. State, 439 So.2d 255 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983); that the fair cross-section requirement is fundamental, Bass v. State, 368 So.2d 447, 449 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979); and that such fundamental error may be raised post conviction, Nova, supra at 261. See also Jordan v. State, 293 So. 2d 131 (Fla. 2d DCA 1974).

14

Denial of defendant's right to due process of law in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment provides an additional basis for reversing the District Court's decision.

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

DENIAL OF DEFENDANT'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO A JURY SELECTED FROM A RE-PRESENTATIVE CROSS-SECTION OF THE COMMUNITY CONSTITUTES FUNDAMENTAL ERROR AND REQUIRES REINSTATEMENT OF THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER VACATING DEFENDANT'S CONVICTION AND GRANTING HIM A NEW TRIAL.

VERSING THE GRANT OF A NEW TRIAL AND IN FINDING THE DEFENDANT PROCEDURALLY BARRED FROM RAISING ON COLLATERAL REVIEW THE VIOLATION OF FUNDAMENTAL CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS DESPITE HAVING PROPERLY PRESERVED THE ISSUES AT TRIAL AND ON APPEAL.

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