047

FIFTH FINANCIAL SID J. WHITE

AND 16 1991

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

By Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 76,752

MERVYN MORELAND,

Appellee/Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant/Respondent.

\*

#### MERITS BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

JOAN FOWLER Bureau Chief Senior Assistant Attorney General

ALLEN GEESEY
Special Assistant Attorney General

CAROL COBOURN ASBURY
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. #393665
111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
Telephone: (407) 837-5062

Counsel for Respondent

##

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

Petitioner argues that the Fourth District Court erroneously reversed the trial court's ruling granting him a new trial based on this Court's decision in Spencer v. State, 545 So.2d 1352 Petitioner claims that this Court's decision in Spencer did not set forth a "new constitutional doctrine" nor did it address rights not recognized at the time of conviction. (Pet. According to Petitioner, Spencer involves the well 15,16). settled principal upholding a defendant's right representative venire as guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment. Consequently, Petitioner argues, he is permitted to rely on Spencer in collateral proceedings since he is doing nothing more than relying on "principles that were well settled at the time of conviction." Yates v. Aiken, 484 U.S. 211, 216, 98 L.Ed.2d 546, 553 (1988). (Pet. 19).

Interestingly, the Petitioner has shifted his argument away from what he argued in his Fourth District Court Brief. In the brief to the Fourth District Court the Petitioner states as grounds for affirming the trial court's granting of a new trial as follows:

The decision in <u>Spencer</u> was presented to the court below as

representing both a major change in law supporting a fundamental error in a case where it is undisputed that defendant was denied his right to a jury drawn from a representative cross-section of 205, 18, 14). community. (R Fla.R.Crim.P. Rule 3.850 allows for relief on both grounds ... Consequently the decision in Spencer readily lent itself to analysis under the criteria set for in the Florida Supreme Court decision in Witt v. State, 387 So.2d 1980), the trial (Fla. applied the standards therein to the facts of the present case and concluded that the defendant should be accorded a new trial.

(AB 14). The Petitioner not only argued the applicability of Witt to this new decisional law but that it represents a "development of fundamental significance." Thus, permitting a review on a Motion for Post-Conviction Relief. Petitioner now abandons the argument that Witt applies stating that Spencer does not involve new issues of law. (Pet. 15). Petitioner now argues that Spencer and this case involves issues well settled at the time of conviction. That is the right of a defendant to a jury venire chosen from a representative cross-section of the county population. (Pet. 19). This is a different argument as the one presented below, as well as the one presented on direct appeal.

The Fourth District Court of Appeals agrees with Petitioner that the <u>Spencer</u> decision did not involve new decisional law. However, the Fourth District Court of Appeals disagreed with the fundamental significance of <u>Spencer</u>. According to the Fourth District Court the <u>Spencer</u> decision was merely an evolutionary

refinement in the law which set forth a new test or standard for procedural fairness. Respondent, of course, agrees with the Fourth District Court of Appeals.

The issue is one of finality. The importance of finality in a criminal justice system can not be overstated. Because of the unavoidable delay in deciding cases and the frequency of Florida law changes, finality would be illusory if each convicted defendant is allowed the right to relitigate his first trial upon any subsequent change in the law relating to his case. The Florida Supreme Court has therefore declared its adherence to a limited role for post-conviction relief proceedings under Rule 3.850 as an avenue to challenge a once final judgment and sentence based upon a changed in decisional law rendered subsequent to final appeal. Witt v. State, 387 So.2d 922, 925, and 927 (Fla. 1980).

The main purpose for Rule 3.850 is to provide a method of reviewing a conviction based upon a major constitutional change in the law which constitutes a development of fundamental significance, or where unfairness is so fundamental in either process or substance that the doctrine of finality has to be set aside. Witt, supra, at 927; State v. Glenn, 558 So.2d 4, 6 (Fla. 1990). The Florida Supreme Court has stated that it has rejected the use of post-conviction relief proceedings to correct individual miscarriages of justice or to permit roving judicial error corrections in the absence of fundamental constitutional law changes which "cast serious doubt on the veracity or

integrity of the original trial proceedings" id., 929. The Florida Supreme Court emphasized that only major constitutional changes of law will be cognizable under Rule 3.850.

Not every change in decisional law requires retroactive application. As this Court noted in <u>Glenn</u>, quoting <u>Witt</u>, 558 So.2d at 6.

contrast these to jurisprudential upheavals are evolutionary refinements in the affording criminal law, new for standards different the admissibility evidence, for of procedural for fairness, proportionality review of capital cases, and for other like matters. Emergent right in these categories, or the retraction of former rights of his genre do not compel an abridgement of the finality of judgments. To allow that impact them would, convinced, destroy the stability of the law, render punishments uncertain and therefore ineffectual, and burden the judicial machinery of our fiscally and intellectually, beyond any tolerable limit.

This Court need not decide whether its decision in <u>Spencer</u> is a major constitutional change in decisional law or merely an evolutionary refinement since the Petitioner now concedes that <u>Spencer</u> does not represent a major change in constitutional law. In fact, Petitioner agrees with the Fourth District Court that <u>Spencer</u> does not involve a change in the law at all. Petitioner rather concedes that the principal he relies on is the well settled Sixth Amendment guarantee of a fair cross-section venire requirement to petit juries.

Rule 3.850 "does not authorize relief based upon grounds which could have or should have been raised at trial and, if properly preserved, on direct appeal of the judgment and sentence." If the principal relied upon by the Petitioner in his direct appeal really was the Sixth Amendment right to a fair cross-section of the county's population then the procedure after the receiving the Fourth District Court's ruling on direct appeal affirming Petitioner's conviction and sentence was an appeal to the Supreme Court of Florida based on the federal constitutional claim. Spencer neither changes this paramount right nor did it address that issue. collateral review is an improper procedural tool to address a well established principal such as the one Petitioner now sets forth in his brief.

Petitioner relies on the United State's Supreme Court's decision in Yates v. Aiken, 484 U.S. 211, 108 S.Ct. 534, 98 L.Ed.2d 546 (1988) to support its contention that this matter can be heard on collateral appeal. However, the Supreme Court in Yates did not address the retroactively question since the principal of law relied on existed prior to the defendant's trial and South Carolina's Supreme Court did not place any limit on the issues that it will entertain in collateral proceedings. The Supreme Court stated that since the South Carolina Supreme Court did address the merits of the federal claim in the collateral proceedings than it had a duty to grant the relief that the federal law requires. Yates, 484 U.S. at 271. Sub judice,

Florida does place limits on the issues that it will entertain in collateral proceedings and issues that are well principals of law at the time the defendant's trial took place is not to be considered on motions for post-conviction relief. Moreover, this issue was never addressed in these terms either on direct appeal or in the motion for post-conviction relief. only issue addressed was the denial of Petitioner's motion for County-Wide jury panel, alleging, as did Spencer, that the jury districts failed to preserved the population mix of the county as a whole. Had the Petitioner appealed the Fourth District Court's affirmance of Petitioner's conviction and sentence to the Supreme Court of Florida this Court probably would have accepted jurisdiction since it had already accepted jurisdiction in Spencer.

The Petitioner skirts around this issue by attempting to have this Court's decision in Spencer retroactively applied. issue in Spencer did not involve the right of a defendant to a jury selected from a representative cross-section of community but rather the implementation of Section Florida Statute (1987) through Palm Beach County's Administrative Order No. 1.006-1/80, "In Re: Glades Jury District-Eastern Jury District." This Court in Spencer states that procedural fairness is not accomplished by a strict division of the county into east/west jury districts, thereby, excluding a significant concentration of the black rural population of Palm Beach County. However, procedural fairness is met when a jury district contains

the same population mix of blacks as does the county as a whole. Thus, <u>Spencer</u> does not change the law, but rather interprets statutory provisions providing a guideline for creating such jury districts where none previously existed.

The statute only requires that the jury districting seek to avoid any exclusion of any cognizable group. The two districts created in Palm Beach County were created by drawing a straight line more or less arbitrarily dividing the county in two. this manner the authorities sought to avoid any exclusion of any cognizable group, reduce the substantial travel time for jurors and alleviate unnecessary expense to the State. This Court noted that the effect of the Administrative Order was to exclude a significant concentration of the black rural population of Palm Beach County, specifically the approximate 5,000 registered black voters in the more rural western district were not subject to jury duty in the urban eastern district. Spencer, Note bottom of page 1355. Under Spencer a racially neutral motive for creating jury districts is not enough. The jury district must reflect the same population mix as the whole county.

This court specifically notes Judge Cohen's decision in State v. Alix Joseph, No. 87-619 CF A02 (Fla. 15 Cir.Ct. March 27, 1987) wherein Judge Cohen noted that:

....Therefore, if a system is designed to draw a fair cross representation of the county, it should draw jury pools containing approximately 7½ percent blacks and 92½ percent non-blacks. Notwithstanding this, in the Glades District, when

jurors are drawn only from within that district, the "jury district" system is designed to draw from a voter registration list is 52.08 percent black and 47.92 percent non-black.

Judge Cohen then quoted <u>Jordan v. State</u>, 293 So.2d 131 (2nd DCA 1974):

Apart from the due process and equal protection quarantees for the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments, the Sixth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution guarantees the accused a trial by an impartial jury. This comprehends that in the selection process there will be fair possibility for obtaining a representative cross section of the community. Williams v. Florida, 399 U.S. 78, 100 ... Where a county is the political unit from which a jury is to be drawn, the right to an impartial jury drawn from a fair cross section of the community requires that the jury be drawn from the whole county and not from some political sub-units thereof to the exclusion of others. Preston v. Mandeville, 479 F.2d 127 (5th Cir. 1973). A white defendant who was with allegedly charged a crime perpetrated against a black could be similarly aggrieved if the jury list from which his venire were drawn came only from those precincts having a disproportionately high number blacks. Jordan v. State, supra, 134. (emphasis added)

It seems that Judge Cohen was more concerned about Glades District than he was in the eastern district since he specifically mentions not only the 52.08 percent of Blacks in the western district but that in <u>Jordan</u> the Court noted that a white defendant could be prejudiced to the same degree as a black defendant if his venire were drawn from precincts having a

disproportionately high number of blacks as the Glades Jury District did. Judge Cohen suggested that:

...it would not be impossible to Beach County divide Palm into eastern and western district and still preserve the integrity of each district preventing racial discrimination. For example, the boundary line between the present Glades District and present Eastern District could be moved east from Twenty Mile Bend to the Florida Turnpike, for example, communities such as Royal Palm Beach, Loxahatchee, Wellington, Breakers West, etc. to a Western District....

(See Judge Cohen's Order attached hereto for the convenience of the Court and which was attached to Petitioner's direct appeal initial brief, as it was attached to Spencer's initial brief before this Court.)

Interestingly, this division would have kept the same 4,947 registered black voters in the western district from serving on a jury in the eastern district and, therefore, Spencer would still not have the benefit of those black voters. Nevertheless, such a division would have diluted the percentage of black voters available for jury duty in the western district as well as adding more affluent urban white voters to the jury pool in the western district. The net result would have been a percentage of black voters in this newly created western district more like the percentage of black voters in the county as a whole and also to maintain a population mix between rural and urban voters more like that found in the county as a whole. The newly created eastern district would probable have the same number of black

voters but less white voters, therefore, the percentage of black voters to white voters would increase. In taking judicial notice of Judge Cohen's order this Court must have agreed with the suggested cure cited in the order itself. This contention is supported by this Court's finding that Section 40.015 is constitutional.

The issue in Spencer was whether Spencer was entitled to have the clerk draw the jury pool from the county at large. This court held that Spencer was entitled to have a jury selected from the entire county. Many cases over the past ten years have been tried utilizing jurys selection based on the division of Palm Beach County into jury districts. In determining the issue of the jury districts the trial courts had looked to the intent behind the division creating the jury districts not whether the jury district included the same population mix between rural and urban and/or the same percentage of black voters as the county as a whole. The Spencer decision changed the standard to be used for determining procedural fairness in drafting jury districts in Florida. It represents the type of evolutionary refinement found in State v. Neil, 457 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1984) and Allen v. Hardy, 106 S.Ct. 2878 (1986).

The United States Supreme Court states that a decision announcing a new standard "is almost automatically non-retroactive" where the decision "has explicitly overruled past precedent." Allen, at 2880. In this instant case the decision in Spencer has overruled past precedent. Evidence the many years

Palm Beach County has been divided into jury districts, the statutory authorization for jury districts, and the Fourth District Court of Appeal's affirmance of the defendant's The fact that a rule may have some impact on the conviction. accuracy of a trial does not compel a finding of retroactivity. Allen, at 2880. A new standard weighs in favor of retroactivity where the standard "goes to the heart of the truth finding function" Id. at 2880. The present case is not a fundamental and constitutional law change which casts serious doubts on the veracity or integrity of the original trial proceedings. There is no evidence that rural black jurors (the jury veniremen allegedly excluded via the jury districting disapproved Spencer) are more acquittal prone than affluent white jurors. for that matter that rural jurors are more acquittal prone than This is especially true under the facts of the instant case where Mr. Moreland, a white defendant, made racial slurs before committing the homicide of his black victim. Moreover, not all invasions of constitutional rights fundamental errors. Nova v. State, 439 So.2d 255, 262 (Fla. DCA Although this Court found in Spencer unconstitutional systematic exclusion of a significant portion of the black population from the jury pool for the West Palm Beach district", a difference of 1.1 percent between the eastern district's 6.4% black voters as opposed to the 7.5% of black voters in the whole county does not constitute fundamental error as contemplated by the United States federal case law which

addressed laws patently excluding blacks from jury duty or other recognizable groups from jury duty. Spencer at 1354.

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